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References:
A. Defence Casualty and Bereavement Support Manual (DCBSM), Chapter 8
B. DI(G) PERS 20-4 — Recovery of human remains of Australian Defence Force

Members previously unaccounted for

Army Standing Instruction (Personnel), Part 9, Chapter 3

Operation Aussies Home submission dated 7 March 2017

Operation Aussies Home Addendum to Initial Submission dated 5 February 2018

(National Australian Archives Record) Series Number — AWM 54, Control Number

- 135/2/8, Barcode — 457368, Title - [Burials - Graves Registration:] Burial Returns,

Army Form W3314, Members of the 2/11 Infantry Battalion, Rabaul, Aitape,

Wewak Campaigns, interned Wewak War Cemetery, 1945

G. (National Australian Archives Record) Series - MP742/1, Control Number -
336/1/1210, Barcode - 1068459, Title — Execution of Sergeant Siffleet and two
natives at Aitape, New Guinea [file consists of main file in two parts and two
attachments — the titles are: Part 1; Part II; Photographs — execution by Yunome;
Duplicates][Part 1 includes 18 photographs; first attachment includes 3 photographs]

H. (National Australian Archives Record) Series Number - A471, Control Number -
81210, Title — [War Crimes — Military Tribunal — NOTO Kiyohisa (Captain) AWC
2964 — Unit - 27™ Special Naval Base Force WATANABE Tenuo (Chief Petty
Officer) AWC 2967 - Unit - Naval Garrison Troop Guard Company : Date and
Place of Tribunal — Rabaul, 9-10 July 1947], Barcode - 739450

mmOO

Context

Reference A, details the Australian Defence Force (ADF) responsibility with regards to the
‘Recovery of Human Remains of ADF Members: Missing in Action Believed Dead’ —
currently issued as Reference B (to be incorporated into the DCBSM at next amendment).

Reference C, stipulates the Army remains committed to the identification and recovery of
human remains of Army members who have died during a conflict or on operations. It also
advises of responsibility for fact-finding investigations of such cases.
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Unrecovered War Casualties — Army (UWC-A), is tasked by Army with the responsibility of
conducting investigations with regards to unaccounted persons and for unrecovered war
casualties.

Executive Summary

1. Operation Aussies Home (OAH) forwarded a submission to UWC-A, in relation
to NX143314 Sergeant (SGT) L.G. Siffleet who was executed on along with his two
Ambonese companions on the beach at Aitape on 24™ October 1943; their bodies have
never been recovered.

2. This report has reviewed that submission and all known available evidence.

3. Operation Aussies Home has put forward the hypothesis based on the Balance of
Probability !, that the Unidentified Australian Soldier (UAS) that washed up east of the
mouth of the Nigia River, Aitape, on the 24™ g anuary 1945 and who is now interred in the
Commonwealth War Cemetery at Lae, Plot PP, Row A, Grave 7, is in fact Siffleet.

4. Siffleet and his two Ambonese companions, Privates Pattiwal and Reharing, had
been captured while operating behind enemy lines whilst on Operation Whiting, held for a
period and tortured. On the 24™ October 1943, taken to Aitape beach and publicly
executed by beheading and buried where they were executed.

5

A

Siffleet, Pattiwal and Reharing being lead to their execution

5. Their executions were photographed on the orders of the executioners, the
photograph negatives were later found on the belongings of a dead Japanese body at
Hollandia depicting the last moments of Siffleet, Pattiwal and Reharing lives.

1Beyond Reasonable Doubt http://www.findlaw.com.au/faqs/3670/what-is-meant-by-beyond-reasonable-doubt-in-crimin.aspx
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6. The time lapse period between Siffleet, Pattiwal and Reharing execution/
death/burial in 1943 and the washing up/locating of the remains at the mouth of the Nigia
River, Aitape on the 24™ g anuary 1945 is one year, three months and one day or 65 weeks
and four days or 459 days.

Eile Edit View Favoritess Tools Help

1945 &ti=onf el §v] |-‘J—(a|cu\ate Duration Betwee... * ‘ ‘

s [E]Home—SODA [4 Business days calculatori.. ] ACT - Asset Capitalisation...

Apps & APl - Free Fun -

Home - World Clock ~ Time Zones -~ Calendar -~ Weather ~ Sun & Moon ~ Timers -~ Calculators ~

Calculate Duration

From and including: Sunday, 24 October 1943
To and including: Wednesday, 24 January 1945

Alternative time units

459 days can be converted to one of these units:
= 39,657,600 seconds
= 660,960 minutes

Result: 459 days

itis 459 days from the siart date 1o the end daie, end dale included
= 11,016 hours

Or 1 year, 3 months, 1 day including the end date
' ' = 459 days
= 65 weeks and 4 days

= 125.75% of a common year (365 days)

< Make adjustment and calculate again Start Again »
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30 days included
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Sat

December 1943
—December 1944

December 1943: 31 days

January 1945
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Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat

12 3 4 5 8 Included 1 2 3 4 5 &
Year 1944: 366 days included

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 7 8 9 10 11 12 13
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21 22 23 24 25 26 27 n 2 2
25 % 27 28 29 30| |28 29 0
a1
= First day included (24 Oct 1943) [ | = Last day included (24 Jan 1945)

Advertising v

https://www.timeanddate.com/date/durationresult.html?d1=24&m1=10&y1=1943&d2=24&m2=01&y2=1945&ti=on

7. The Commonwealth War Graves Commission (CWGC) is opposed to
exhumation of remains from war graves within its care. It will normally only undertake
exhumation when a grave is threat of being loss or in the case of over-riding public
necessity. This extends to opening of graves for DNA testing. A copy of this policy is
attached at Annex A.

8. Siffleet beheading is the only known photograph beheading execution of a
European during World War Two. His death and the whereabouts of his remains at the
time and to date still have massive immeasurable public interest. This public interest may
meet the requirements to warrant the opening of the Lae grave and take a sample
for DNA testing.
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9. In 2015 and 2016 the Case Officer interviewed the _

Historical Background

10. The Field Service Regulations Volume 1, 1930 2 contains the policy used by
Australian units during World War Two for burying deceased service personnel in the
field; an extract of these Regulations pertaining to Grave Services.

11. The Grave Registration Units (GRU) then brought the remains of deceased
service personnel into temporary war cemeteries from the field. These temporary
cemeteries were consolidated into larger war cemeteries. Aitape itself was such a
temporary war cemetery, which operated from 1944 to 1945.

12. In regards to the three permanent Commonwealth War Cemeteries now located in
New Papua Guinea at, Bomana (Port Moresby), Bita Paka (Rabaul), and Lae, this decision
being made post the end of the war.

13. The remains in the Lae Plot PP, Row A, Grave 7 was initially interred in
Australian War Cemetery Aitape, Plot A, Row B, Grave 2, these were exhumed,
transported and re-interred into the Australian War Cemetery at Wewak Plot F, Row A,
Grave 7 before being again exhumed, transported and finally re-interred at Lae
Commonwealth War Cemetery.

* Reprinted with amendments in 1940
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Front of Grave Registration Card — Lae Grave P.P.A.7

Back of Grave Registration Card — Lae Grave P.P.A.7

14. The Australian War Cemetery at Aitape had three UAS interred within its

confines, all being exhumed and moved to Wewak, then finally to Lae.

15. The OAH submission makes no mention of the other two UAS that had been
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interred the Australian War Cemetery at Aitape or Siffleet two companions executed with
him at the same time.

HISTORICAL CONTEXT - SERGEANT SIFFLEET / HIS COMPANIONS /
OPERATION WHITING

16. An in depth historical ‘Context Brief” in relation to Siffleet, his two Ambonese
companions and Operation Whiting is contained at Annex B.

Studio portrait of Len Siffleet in civilian clothes. AWM photo ID number P02547.001

REVIEW OF OPERATION AUSSIE HOME HYPOTHESIS

17. OAH submission at Reference D contends that:
a. Siffleet was buried near the place of execution in a grave some four to six feet in
depth.

No Japanese that were interrogated at the end of the war in regard to Siffleet’s
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execution quote the depth of the grave. Siffleet was buried first with his two
companions being buried on top of him.

That tropical monsoon pattern of heavy rain over the period of November to
April, strongest over the Christmas period to March for Aitape would have
assisted in the uncovering Siffleet remains.

From the date of their execution to the date of the discovery of the body, at the
mouth of the river there had been two monsoon periods; 1943/44 and 1944/45.

No theory has been provided why the 1943/44 monsoon should be discounted.

Either monsoon period could have also assisted in uncovering all three sets of
remains, not just Siffleet’s. Additionally, Pattiwal or Reharing would have been
uncover first as Siffleet’s body was the first body placed into grave, Pattiwal or
Reharing were placed in afterwards.

OAH provided no theory why Pattiwal or Reharing remains should be discounted.

Coupled with (b) this the combination of disturbance by military landing craft,
tracked vehicles, wave action and diurnal tidal action would have also assisted in
uncovering the remains.

It would have also assisted in uncovering all three sets of the remains, not just
Siffleet’s.

Additionally, the recapture of Aitape, which was a part of Operation Reckless,
occurred over 22-24 April 1944, this is when the beach at Aitape saw the most
disturbance from landing craft and tracked vehicles.

The Australian 6™ Division began progressively relieving the Americans in place
from early October 1944. Landing craft and tracked vehicle traffic over the
Aitape beach during the latter part of January 1945 was minimal.

No other Australian Servicemen were reported being killed in or near that
location and their bodies not recovered.

Incorrect, there are two other Australian Servicemen recorded as missing in the
areai durini that ieriod and their bodies not recovered. P

Additionally, the Australian War Cemetery at Aitape, had three UAS interred in
confines, two soldiers and possible one airman. All of which were later exhumed
transported to Wewak again exhumed and finally interred and laid to rest in Lae.

OAH Addendum Reference E further contends that:

14. “There were six possibilities as to the identity of the Unknown Australian Soldier
(UAS) whose body was found on the beach, above the low water line near the mouth
of the Nigia River at Aitape on the 25 Jan 45. They were:
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(1). SGT Siffleet, Caucasian — beheaded and buried 24 Oct 43 near mouth Nigia
River, last seen wearing Australian army issue shorts and shirt, UAS recovered
near place of beheading, head was missing from the UAS, burial would have
slowed rate of decomposition.’

Incorrect, executed on the Aitape beach, buried in wet sand
with Pattiwal and Reharing also being executed

and placed on top of him.

(2). “‘PTE Reharin, Mongoloid — beheaded and buried 24 Oct 43 near mouth Nigia
River, wearing native issue shorts.’

Incorrect, executed on the Aitape beach, buried in wet sand,
buried with Siffleet below him.

(3). “PTE Pattiwahl, Mongoloid — beheaded and buried 24 Oct 43 near mouth Nigia
River, wearing native issue shorts.’

Incorrect, executed on the Aitape beach, buried in wet sand,
buried with Siffleet below him.

4). r off Aitape beach,

Records do not state what was wearing at the time he went
missing. To add anything, is only conjecture.

Not correct - within a few days of the 2004 Boxing Day tsunami the Thai’s were
checking pubic hair colour to quickly screen foreigners (Europeans). This
anecdote demonstrates that even after a few days in the tropics, it is impossible to
determine ancestry (race) using skin colour, soft tissues etc. Additionally, taking
into consideration there was no skull.

(5).

at mouth of Nigia River, 545

Records do not state what was wearing at the time he went
missing. To add anything, is only conjecture.

Not correct - within a few days of the 2004 Boxing Day tsunami the Thai’s were
checking pubic hair colour to quickly screen foreigners (Europeans). This
anecdote demonstrate that even after a few days in the tropics, it is impossible to
determine ancestry (race) using skin colour, soft tissues etc. Additionally, taking
into consideration there was no skull.

(©).
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is discounted has his disappearance occurred after the date in
question.

‘15. Those excluded from the information provided by this report and the initial
OAH report:’

a. ‘b and ¢ — due to their general racial classification being Mongoloid.’

Not correct - within a few days of the 2004 Boxing Day tsunami the Thai’s were
checking pubic hair colour to quickly screen foreigners (Europeans). This anecdote
demonstrate that even after a few days in the tropics, it is impossible to determine
ancestry (race) using skin colour, soft tissues etc. Additionally, taking into
consideration there was no skull.

b. ‘d and e — due to their exposure to the hydraulics of the open sea environment, the
prolific number of sea predators in that area and rate of decomposition in warm
tropical waters ...’

Siffleet, Pattiwal and Reharing were buried together in one grave. This grave was
either close to or below the high water mark, therefore the warm tropical waters
would have helped in accelerating decomposition, even beneath the sand.

c. ‘if due to his drowning about 3 weeks after the UAS in question was recovered.’

has been discounted as a possible suspect.

‘16. The end result being that, on the balance of probabilities, it is highly probable
that the UAS recovered near the mouth of the Nigia River on the 25 Jan 45 is SGT
SIFFLEET.

Incorrect, Pattiwal and Reharing are still prossible candidates based upon OAH
submission. Additionally, so are S(§

This leaves a total of five possible candidates.

THREE UNIDENTIED AUSTRALIAN SERVICEMEN - AUSTRALIAN WAR
CEMETERY AITAPE

19. When the Australian War Cemetery at Aitape closed towards the end of 1945
there were 118 servicemen buried within it confines. Three were UAS; all buried in Plot
A, the first was being in Row A, Grave 4, the second in Row B, Grave 2, the last in Row
D, Grave 10. The details from the Grave Registration Cards for these individuals are as
follows:

a. Plot A, Row A, Grave 4 °, Date of burial 29 December 1944 (originally buried in
the UASF Cemetery (Aitape) Number 1, Grave 3, on 4 November 1944).
42/8B/1415, Killed in plane crash, non-combat, Aitape area on
2 December 1944, body too badly mutilated as result of plane crash to determine

3 A8234 — 36— pp 251-252
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marks or scars or colour of eyes.

b. Plot A, Row B, Grave 2 4, Date of burial 24 January 1945, Remains found just
above sea level approx. 20 yards (18 metres) east of mouth of the Nigia River.
Body had been washed up during a storm on the previous day. Body too
decomposed through action of water and sea lice to note any deformities etc.

also

War Dairy °, ‘An Officer from 17 Bde junior Leaders’ School, situated near the
mouth of the Nigia River reported that the remains of an Unidentified Australian
Soldier had been washed up above sea level, approx 20 yds (18 metres) east of
the mouth of the Nigia River. Capt Kerr and Party investigated and recovered the

remains (Head and feet missing). Records held by his Unit indicate that the
remains could be that of a
S in the mouth of the Nigia River some But due to

lack of any means of confirming identification, the remains were buried in Aitape
Aust War Cemetery as Unidentified Australian Soldier.’

OAH contends this individual, is Siffleet.

c. Plot A, Row D, Grave 10 °, Date of burial 22 February 1945, Report of
discovery of remain received 12 March 1945, 42/8B/1518, Found floating in
shallow water opposite 17 Bde HQ. Body recovered by 17 Bde personnel. Body
has been mauled by sharks. Right foot missing. Portion of abdomen, back and
right arm missing. Body appears to be immersed in water for at least one week.
Head swollen up and features badly disfigured. This individual is discounted as
his disappearance occurred after the date in question.

and his body had not been
recovered. is discounted as his disappearance occurred after the
date in question.

MISSING SOLDIERS IN AITAPE AREA —- NOT RECOVERED - PERSONAL
RECORDS

20. A review of the three individual’s personal Army records that went missing from
around Aitape over the same period has been undertaken. The review was done to locate
information in relation to their disappearance, the searches undertaken by their respective
units and any other relative information:

s47F

a.

* A8234 — 36 — pp 205-206

> 7 Australian War Graves Unit, War Diary, 24 January 1945
6

A8234 — 36 — ii 301-302
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Time lapse from disappearance on 3sidi to unidentified body
recovered at the mouth of the river on pda — 84 days (12 weeks);

within the date range.

|

Time lapse from disappearance on discounted, not within date
range, disappeared after remains in question were found.

|

Time lapse from disappearance on s47F to unidentified body
recovered at the mouth of the river on F#da — 52 days (7 weeks, 3

days); within date range.

NATIONAL ACHIEVES OF AUSTRALIA DOCUMENTS - (CONSIDERING
SIFFLEET’S EXECUTION)

24. The following documents held by the National Achieves of Australia (NAA) in
relation to Siffleet’s Execution have been reviewed in detail and the following information is
found:

25. Reference G:

a. Page 62, paragraph 2:
‘... (b). The prisoners were later moved from Malol to Aitape.

(d). WATANABE then allowed three civilians YUNOME, YASUNO and
MITSUHASHI Masayo to execute the prisoners. ...”

b. Page 71, paragraph 3:
‘... (e). It was decided to move the prisoners from Malol to Aitape. ...’

c. Page 91, Statement by KATSUMI, Kanichi, no paragraph numbering:
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‘... the senior staff officer, Commander NOTO gave verbal orders for detachment
leader, Warrant Officer WATANABE, ““to kill all PsW on AITAPE at present”. ...
Arriving at AITPAE, | transmitted Commanders NOTQO’s orders to Warrant Officer
WATANABE. That day or the day after -the date is not clear-, three PsW ( said to be
on AUSTRALIAN and two INDONESIONS) were blind-folded and forced to kneel on
the beach at AITAPE then, each was decapitated from behind at with a samurai
sword by three civilians attached to the military ...’

Page 113, Report on Interrogation of MORO, Yoshiji:

7. He first saw the Australian PW and the 2 native PW when they first arrived ate
AITAPE form MALOL, and on another occasion when out of curiosity he went to the
front of the house in AITAPE where they were accommodated. They were then very
thin.

11. MORO recalls that YASUNO fails to kill SIFFLEET at the first stoke, and that
when SIFFLEET feel forward into the open grave he was still alive. He thereupon
stabbed to death in the chest by one of the civilians with a sword.’

Page 152, Translation of Affidavit by WATANABE, Teruo, no paragraph
numbering:

‘... However, since no orders came and there was no reason to keep the prisoners in
MARORU indefinitely, they were sent to AITAPE. | don’t quite remember the date,
but it was about two week after their capture. ... The prisoners were incarcerated in
a building on top of a mountain in AITAPE and one seaman was place on guard to
look after their food and other needs. ...

Page 153, Translation of Affidavit by WATANABE, Teruo, no paragraph
numbering:

‘... | cannot remember the date nor the time, but the following day, about 1200
hours, | ordered the men to make preparations for the execution on the North beach
of AITAPE. ... They dug the hole in which the three prisoners were to be buried.
About 1400 hours, ... I personally conducted the three prisoners from the building in
which they were imprisoned to the north beach. Bringing them to a halt
approximately 50 metres from the site of the execution ground. | called them one by
one to the spot on the beach where the preparation for the execution had been made.
First I turned the Australian over to YASUNO. After he had finished decapitating, |
turned one of the native soldiers over to YUNOME. After YUNOME finisher the
decapitating, | handed the other native to MITTSUBASHI. All three fitted well into
the hole. ...

Page 185, Interrogation report of YUNOME, Kunio, no paragraph numbering:
‘Q. Did he say where it would take place?
A. Yes, he told me that the execution would take place on the beach near the camp.

Page 191, Paragraph 1:

(v) It was then decided to move the prisoners from MALOL to AITAPE.
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(viii) ... the prisoners were then to the beach where a hole had been prepared.
SIFFLEET was blindfolded, made to kneel alongside the hole and YASUNO
carried out the execution. YASUNO ordered YUNOME to behead REHARIN
and MITSUBASHI to ...”

Page 198, Paragraph 1:

‘1. At AITAPE, NEW GUINEA, on 24 Oct 1943 NX14311 Sgt L.G. SIFFLEET, M
Special Unit; REHARIN, a native; and PATE WAIL, a native were executed by
Japanese. ...’

Page 201,

(ii1) ... 1 went to instruct the local inhabitants and chiefs in the area to capture and
bring in 3 enemy prisoners of war to our outpost at Malol. ... 5 or 6 days later,
chiefs of the Ainbai area bringing with them 3 enemy soldiers they had captured —
one Australian ...

Page 210, Statement by VX102798 Captain Victor Alexander Robinson Chapple,
paragraph 2:

(d) At about 0930 hours on 24 October 1943 these three men were executed on the
beach neat Aitape as ...’

Page 212, Statement by VX102798 Captain Victor Alexander Robinson Chapple, no
paragraph numbering:

Q. How many did they bring in?
A. Three — 1 Australian soldier and 2 Ambon natives.

Q. Where were they confined?
A. They were put in goal in Malol Village.

Q. What kind of goal was it?
A. A former missionary’s home.

Page 214, Statement by VX102798 Captain Victor Alexander Robinson Chapple, no
paragraph numbering:

Q. Explain to me in detail just how this execution took place?

A. We received order from Wewak HQ on the 23 Oct 43 by wireless. Yasuno and Sgt
Maj Watanabe, garrison troop leader of the guard company, talked over this
execution that night. Next morning Yasuno called us all out and told us to come
down to the beach where holes had been prepared previously by natives. The
prisoners were brought down by members of the guard company garrison troops.
Then the prisoners were given a cigarette. They were blindfolded. Yasuno made the
Australian sit down by the hole, then he cut his head off.’

Q, Look at photograph No. 2 Is that a picture of the Australian and the two natives
standing on the beach before they were beheaded?
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26.

A. Yes.

Page 216, Statement by VX102798 Captain Victor Alexander Robinson Chapple, no
paragraph numbering:

Q. Would you mark on the map with the pen the approximate position where this
execution took place?

A. Yes. (Marks with cross and signs his name approximate place of execution) (Map
marked ““Exhibit No.6”” and attached hereto).

Page 299, no paragraph numbering:

’24 October — the affair of the prisoner of Malol Outpost. This afternoon was for me
an occasion to be remembered for a lifetime. I myself, with my own Japanese sword
beheaded an enemy soldier prisoner. This was a new experience for me. But |
screwed myself to it. Anything can be done if one resoles to do it to the very best of
one’s ability. And | am convince that given complete confidence | can carry out any
task successfully. 1 really believe | was magnificent. Amongst the Japanese
onlookers there were many who declared their admiration for my skill in making
such an excellent stroke.’

Page 318, paragraph 3.

d. ...Another policy said the executions took place at Aitape, but the basis of
his knowledge of that fact could not be determined.’

Page 324, Translation of statement by KATSUMI, Kanichi, no paragraph
numbering:

‘... the senior staff officer, Commander NOTO gave verbal orders for detachment
leader, Warrant Officer WATANABE, ““to kill all PsW on AITAPE at present”. ...
Arriving at AITPAE, | transmitted Commanders NOTO’s orders to Warrant Officer
WATANABE. That day or the day after -the date is not clear-, three PsW ( said to be
on AUSTRALIAN and two INDONESIONS) were blind-folded and forced to kneel on
the beach at AITAPE then, each was decapitated from behind at with a samurai
sword by three civilians attached to the military ...’

Reference H:

Page 38, paragraph 2:

(c) “In October 1943 near Aitape one Australian Sergeant and two Ambonese
natives were captured by New Guinea natives and handed over the Japanese and he
(Yunomo) interrogated these men. The Australian was dressed in a green shirt and
shorts. One of his name was “George™, was aged twenty-five or twenty-six years,
was formerly a grocer’s shop assistant in Sydney, was unmarried, and a wireless
operator in the Australian Army.

(d). At a about 0930 hours 24 October 1943 these three men were executed on the
beach near Aitape as the result of an order for their execution sent by wireless from
Japanese HQ at Wewak by a Naval Staff Captain Tadano.

(e). YASUNO, who was a Japanese civilian attached to the Japanese Navy executed
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the Australian Sergeant, he (Yunomo) then executed one of the Ambonese natives,
and MITSHUBASHI another Japanese civilian attached to the Japanese Navy
executed the other Ambonese native. The execution was supervised by a Japanese
Navy Warrant Officer named WATANABE. He (Yunomo) at the place of execution
was ordered by WATANABE and YASUNO, to execute on of the Ambonese natives..

Page 42, no paragraph numbering:

‘... Q. How many did they bring in?

A. Three — 1 Australian soldier and 2 Ambon natives.
Q. Where were they confined?

A. There were put in the gaol in Malol Village.

Q. What king of goal was it?

A. A former missionary’s home.’

Page 46, no paragraph numbering:

‘... Q. Explain to me in detail just how this execution took place?

A. We received an order from Wewak HQ on the 23 Oct 43 by wireless. Yasuno and
Sgt Maj Watannbe, garrison troop leader of the guard company, talked over this
execution that night. Next morning Yasuno called us all out and told us to come
down to the beach where holes had been prepared previously by natives. The
prisoners were brought down by member of the guard company garrison troops.
Then the prisoners were given a cigarette. They were blindfolded. Yasuno made the
Australian sit down by the hole, then he cut his head off. ...’

Page 50, no paragraph numbering:

‘...Q. Would you mark on the map with the pen the approximate position where this
execution took place?

A. Yes. (Marks with cross and signs his name approximate place of execution).
(Map marked “Exhibit No. 6”’and attached hereto). ...’

Page 50, no paragraph numbering:

‘Q. How far was the place of execution from the point?

A. Two or three minutes walk. With high tide in it would be covered with water. No
mark was made over the grave. ...’

Page 70, no paragraph numbering:

‘...0n 24 October, 1943, Sgt Maj WATANABE ordered the native to dig a hole in
the sand along the sea coast. Then Sgt Maj WATANABE, Sgt YASUNO, myself,
MITSUBASHI, ADCHI, six men of the Takasa Unit and about 25 or 26 men of the
Navy garrison unit went to the place of execution. There were natives also present at
the execution. The first execution was done by YASUNO, who beheaded the
Australian sgt with a sword. By the order of YASUNO, | then beheaded on of the
Ambon natives with a sword. MITSUBASHI executed the other native in the same
manner. | believe ADASHI, a civilian employee, was the one who took the picture of
the execution. After the execution we buried them and covered the hole with sand. |
was told by YASUNO that the reason for the execution was that they were guilty of
reconnoitring the area and giving secret information through wireless, the natives
acting as a spy. ...’
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Page 78, no paragraph numbering:

‘... Civil Administration Officer YASUNO, W.O. WATANABE, | and some guards
went to MALOL, brought the three spies back to AITAPE and confined them to the
prison. ...’

‘... On the morning 24™ Oct. the enemy spies were taken to the sea-shore. ...’

‘The place of execution had been ready with a hole dug on the sea-shore. W.O.
WATANABE and his marines were guarding the place of the execution and the other
gathered themselves around it. ...”

Page 139, sub-paragraph (c):
‘That about the middle of October 1943 the Accused WATANABE moved the
prisoners to AITAPE. ...’

Page 207, (WATANABE Affidavit), no paragraph numbering:

‘... Around the latter part of September or the beginning of October 1943, about 10
natives ... captured one Australian and two native soldiers ...

‘... The prisoners were incarcerated in a building on top of a mountain in AITAPE
and one seaman was place on guard to look ager their food and other needs. ...

Page 209, (WATANABE Affidavit), no paragraph numbering:

‘... The location decided upon was in a building occupied by the HAKKEN civilian
employees of the Navy located in the middle of the AITAPE Mountain. ...’

‘They dug the hole in while the three prisoners were to be buried. About 1400 hours,
(I’'m not certain about the time nor the day of the execution) I personally conducted
the three prisoners from the building in which they were imprisoned to the north
beach. Bringing them to a halt approximately 50 metres from the site of the
execution ground, | called them one by one to the sport on the beach where the
preparation for the execution had been made. First | turned the Australian over to
YASUNO. After he had finished decapitating, | turned one of the native soldier over
to YUNOME. After YUNOME finished, the decapitating, | handed the other native to
MITTSUBASHI. All fitted well into the hole. ...’

TIMELIME - EXECUTION TO DISCOVERY OF BODY

25. To assist in placing things in context from the date of the execution of Siffleet and
his companions (24 October 1943), the missing Australian soldiers and the date of
discovery of the body at the mouth of the Niga River (25 January 1945); a period of one
year, three months and one day (or 65 weeks and four days or 459 days) had lapsed.

26. To assist in advancing their theory Operation Aussie Home have put forward the
opinion of SQNLDR Dr Malcolm Dodd, which states in full the following:

“from my extensive experience in the Solomon Islands with similar bodies,
(about 25+ trips now) it is fair to say that a deep burial of 4-6 ft. in sand tends
to protect full skeletisation quite well over months to a year”

27. It is a scientific proven fact that no two bodies will decompose at the same rate.
Many factors must be taken to consideration when determining decomposition such as
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environmental, insects, etc. As such, the professional opinion from CAPT D. MacGregor.
Further the email from Dr Dodds refers to protection for up “to a year” and the body in
question was found some 15 months after the known execution date.

CONCLUSION

28. Based on the OAH submission and the evidence available there are five possible
candidates who could be the person has been laid to rest in the Commonwealth War
Cemetery at Lae, Plot PP, Row A, Grave 7. These candidates are:

a. NX143314 Sergeant L.G. Siffleet;

b. Private Pattiwal;

c. Private Reharing;

d. s47F

e.

29. The submission by OAH does not establish, on the balance of probabilities that,
SGT Siffleet is the soldier buried in the specified grave.

RECOMMENDATION

30. Recommendations. The following recommendations are made:

a. That the headstone at Lae War Cemetery, Plot PP, Row A, Grave 7 remains
unchanged.

b. The ID Board may wish to consider requesting that CWGC open the grave in

question and obtain a DNA based on “over-riding public necessity’. This would
however be an extraordinary request, likely to be resisted by DVA and CWGC.
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s47F

c. If recommendation b. is acceited the DNA sample is tested against the -
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Distribution:
Annexes:
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C. Specialist Report — CAPT Donna MacGregor
D Specialist Report — Felicity Gilbert PhD
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Annex A

UWC-A/WW2/2015/15-05

—--Original Message—
From: CWGC Enquiry Support Team [mailip:enguiries@owes, o]
Sent: Wednesds 20 December 2017 1:41 AM

Dear Mr, Hampson,

Thank you for your email,

Please find attached
Yours sincerely

CWGC Records Data Manager

Could vou please provide S47E(d), S47G
SA7E(d). SATG
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SATE(d), s47G
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Annex B
UWC-A/WW2/2015/15-05

HISTORICAL CONTEXT - SERGEANT SIFFLEET / HIS COMPANIONS /

OPERATION WHITING

il weir's mod, (AU 107008

s afier 3 a'clack on the
afternoon of 14 Oetober 1943,
thiree happard prisoners, sn
Atsstrabian and o Amboiess,
weene esiorted oo Aftape heach sy
& party of fapariese marines. The
prisomers were stopped by & lrge
bole. Here they were me by &
Erowp af [apaness civiliins from the
Bth Naval Constrisction Groap,
LOne of them, Yasiso Chikao, read
& shert statement Fom flimsy
prece. ol paper. Yunome  Kuni,
amcther civilian, related wha
hippened next 1o an Australian
mderrogator in February 1948.
Then the prisoners weve yriven @
cigareeie, They were hiiratfalded
Yenne made the disgralias s dgsim
by the bale, then e cur his head off.
A phovagraph of this scene
taken by another hipaisese was
iranng Dwventy-twe phatographs
Found by American troopa st
Hatlandia, the capitalof itk New
Canimed, in Apri] 1944, 11 shows the
Adestralian Jumt seconds before he

Len Siffleet
and the
Whiting

Mission

Forgeant Lo S8finet, bound and biindioldsd, oy balare bea axecution
an the beach ar Aispe Tha sxacutionsr, Yasare Chizae, was kiflad hifors

died, The phoitograph has

by Garih Prattan

Len Siffleet’s story will be one
of those told in the Australian
War Memorials new Second
World War exhibition.

A display will honour his life

becorve ane of the tumt  gpd highlight the ex tracrdinary
well-known uf the Pacific ; -

war as porhaps the soly  9etails of the mission upon
image |1r=|'|lu'|_ing the which he died.

FXCCUtion of & western

prisoner of war

Remembered for hiow he dhigdd,
ook Fer vk e was, thie unforturiats
Austrabian in the photo has in the
past been incorvectly  identified

oné ofthe most well-nowy
the anly image depicting the
execution of a western

varicinahy as s Aniterican sirnarn and
as an Australian Vietords Oross
recipiend, William Mewma, His
true bdentity hos rernained olisoure.

The Austrabissn sobdivr was ™
fact Sergeant Leonard Gearge
Ziffleet. He was a caring, decent
ton be

man  who deserves

Page 22 of 26

remembered fir mose than Just
Bis gruesome snd untimely end
Silllerts sty will he rald in the
Austrabian War Memorial's new
Second Workd War exhibition in a
dfapk_y that will beswour s life 2nd
highlight the entraordinary detalls
of the misshon upar which be died,

Len Rilflest was born in
Crmnedlab, New South Wales, va 14
sy 1916 The third child in 2
famdly of seven, Len was an activg
anel - inndistrione boy, Hie enjoved
sports and decame sjuile & poid
swimmer, splashing down the
H-ll'lﬂl:lﬂ Ri'ﬂ!‘l’ Wil]'l"ﬁﬂ?‘ﬂ\l:llml.
While. Charlton went on to
l:Hymiu.rx‘kt_v,Lenﬂlﬁlut Wy hag
pold medals ar the NSW Nocth
West :Jumpi.mw}ﬁp;in Tarmworth
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A young man, Len veas rengwiied
[ hita hil‘ti:l‘l.g skitls and outfitred
the whnle of the Gunnedah pipe
baerisd weith hﬁﬁmd lume,

In’ the late 1930z, Sifflecd
fallowed bis doer Pearl 10 Sydney
in séarch of work, After theis
mepthier died in 1941 . the twa took
on the: reaponsibility for bringing up
thedr too vomgesi brothers m
sceomnmadste the inerant nasmre
ol thesir fathier's wrk, The bervs Bved
with Pearl and her hoshand while
Len supported them financially,

In the seantinmge, the work hail
tummbsledd inio war, Sl ee hesitaed
to foin the srmy Beciose of lis
respansibility o bis brothers. He
tricd fo julin the polce bt was
rejected becanse: of poor evesight
The armoy wasmot Guile 4 palective
Safflers was called up i Augass 1940
aned servend with & H.'ﬂ!'l:hﬁgi'll kil
ar Richimand albr Force base. Alier
three months be was releised aned
resymied life & g civifian, The war
haud yet bo thréaten Austrabiz directly
arnd the militie was g2il] Fusictioning
on & part-thme basis. But in
sepremiier 194 F, a3 the sitoation
worsened, be joleed the AIF and was
posted to the [zt [Divisian Sigmals
Bection a1 Ingbebarn,

Being so chose v homie was ton
misch of 4 temptaion for Len; on
by cermsons e was shsent withaouat
lizave from Inglebnsrn, He had good
reason to po wababoul Back. in
Svidney wan his flancée, Clarke
Lasie. Len and Clarice's engsgerment
wa an vpen-ended affair, Like so
mndny waing people at the time, the
uneeraingy of the war plaved on
their thoughis and Sifflest was still
il of his nhlhp_am‘rm- o his
brothers, so they decided 1o dhelay
thiir wedding, even if Len wers sent
IWETECaN,

Silflect was eventually sent to
Victoria o dmplete & specialise
sigrials course at the Melborse
Technical Collepe, In September
1942 be volunteered for specsal
duties and  joined the ranks of 7
Specizl Unit. Mo e will profahly

ever know why he
chase :.p-c-r.'u.| clutiics:
His  letters from
Melboorpe e noth-
ing wway, Perhaps be
wia fed-up with ]H'it'lg
stuek wn Australia, or he
ool have hecn :J:l:h"r:g
shventure, or marbe
b pust warited 1o dé his
Bt iy gt ths WAl e
s be could ceturn 1o
the family he mdssed
and the fancée he
borvad,

Z Special Unit has
scquired a special
nystique built up by
frwrty pears of Australisn
tedevision and populir
history. The reality was
rinachy liws exciting The
vt hud as many clerka

anw sroremen on 148 books 4 i1 had
feeld nperatives, T Soecial was
simply o holding wnit whick
#idministered the Abgtralisn
personel serving with 2 mwich
Fibare secTed anganisation, the Inter.
Allied Services Department (150,
A orver name fof Special Cperations
Anstraba (S0OM).

A oover name was needed o
digguize the true narare of the work
these Axstralians were nvolved in
Sokveone whio mised the spothighs
of history came up with the
maebodramatic “F, Special  Unit®,
Perfiaps the waorst cover pame cver,

In Dinober 1947, Len
proeded ta the "2 Experimental
Senrion” in Cairne, anather botched
atterpd At trying o provide an
medEpdCuGgs Giver name For the
camp where 508 praiped itz
operatives. It was here thar the
famous “Miperation Jrrwick” team
had comgleted their tairrivng, While

K
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Serpoant Les Sifftaar wirh hig fiancaa,
Clarica Lane, in Sydney in 1981
FAVT PR 005

Lew Sillleer was raining in Cairve,
the Dwich section o [5I) was
planning a mission to establish a
coast watching station in the
mountaiins ahove Hollandia, which
buad recently been aecupied by the
Japanése. The mission was
codlenasmed "Whiting”

When it came ime o choose
the Whiting tam, 19 year-old
Sceprant H N, Suwverman of the
Hoval Netherlands Mavy wan
sedected as the team lesder iz
scond - - Comamanid was Curplakal
B | Toyprman froen the Drstch urivy.
Sillleer was the party’s radio
operainr. Two Ambonese privates
Fromm the Diuteh colosial lowoes M.
Reharin and H Pattiwael,
voanpbeted the teatn.

Chrizemas Day 1742 found
Silleet, mow an ALTiEg sergeart, bn
Port Moreghy. He was miaking the
bt ol things, bt lie most Yo
Australizns oreerseas that Chriserm,
wnald rather ha.'-'-: been sonmewhere
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Piawr Guings lghlrsirs owd
around tee Dakeia trenapor
Bena Bana afigr the Whitng
and Logust parties had dis-
anshiriad, [AWM PI1708002

clae, As the MNew Year
rifdled  around Siffleet
wiole his last letier hoime:

.i'!uF:Jw uﬂfh"l’hﬂ»ﬁ

cere wall, 1 wonld fike co bee
them, probahly by the Limo
I v back rlllq":} will e
Grown i ianbood, There's
ro dowbt they wouwld have
brightened up the place o
Xvmirs. it |mu|'..1't¢'3-mm‘ ﬂf
we could oafy bring back
ome of those Xows's we eed o frave
af fame. ."L-.rhrrp:n.l: h yeavi go on
we may fave the pleasure cgein.

Have pou seen Clarice fﬂd_r?
Whien | bave work 5o do, vied i,
bt wien [am bdie well time wems
oo b (b sarme. Palfeace secmy o be
the emly consodation. fos worderful jis
mhat i parsan con adaps himself 1o,
-fll:lclmj'lﬁ.iwm:r_,h#.qpmmm
leaving Avsiralia, and when | rerarn
¥ sheal! Fenve maany fisny stories to tell
There may be o celebration firs

Ln M0 Janwary |943, all the
walting and training was over amd
the Whiting party found ivsclf on a
Dakets bound for Bena Bena in
central New Guinea. This weald be
s far ax the lambering Dikota could
tade thiemn . becass Lo travel oy
further would have made it casy
prey lur any lurking |apanese
fighters. Aleo om board was the
“Locust”™ misedon:; it was heading G
Vamimo, to the west of Aftape, and
the twao pql.ru-u wioald travel
together for their mutoal
protection. With several hundred
Mew Gulned carriers in fow, the
vornbined parties left Bers Bena on
Il Jammary, htid.lm.g for Woam
Hagen, In the coming moniths thy
wierdbid trek over 1,000 Rilosmmtires,
approximately the s distance
from Melbourne o Newcastle,
acrass the mountainous spine of

ceniral Mew Guinea,

By February they had reaches
Wahag, but here they were forced
toweast until & sapply fight into the
airstrip there coald be ar, | The
misgicen thuas far -had been plaged
by @ running gquarrel between
Ssavermman and Topenan; Toposn
returned to Moreshy on the plane
that eventuslly brought in the
supplies. The parties travelled down

In the coming months they
woild ‘trek over 1,100
Eilometres, approsimately
the same distance from
Melbourne to Newcastle,
aeress !hr n#.muman

the swammpy valbey of the Sepik river
aned s 1 June, Tive months after
heaving Muoreshy, they arrived an
Lismni, the lm.rndq:rl 1'u£¢ cang for
the [ncu'u: party. & few duys later
the Whiting parcy se1 out far
Huollandia.

Back in Apstraliz, the porwer
2F Lﬂk’ lietweren the Americans arsl
the Susraliane. for controd of the
Allied intellipence and specal
operatinns offort had vesulted inoa
recrpanization, SOA recelved @
new covier name, the Services
Feoonnaissance Department (F71Y),
and] was controlled directly from

34
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Australian Land Hesdquarters. b
was just one of several OF RS
woder the ombrells of the
Us-conralied Allied |ntellipence
Blatvan { ALK

The: rearganisation resulted in
the creathon of another Sostralian
special wnit, “M°; Like 7, it was an
acministrative ynit respnsible o
all the Aostralian persoane] serving
with the AIB. Mencelorth, waly
thuse Anstralians serving with 3R
would be sdministered b} & Lem
Siffleet, traipeirg through the jusgle
somewhere betwesn Mamal and
Lumi, was oblivieas 1o all these
adrnintsirative machinations and on
¥ May be was trandferred ta M
Special Unit, the same day his
|1:l.'l|r||:-1.im:| (L] SCTgeanl  Was
o e

In 1242, the japancse parrison
At Altape wasd small, 1t conisted of
five Japarese civilane from the
Minsedba fa civillan admisistrative
oFgariestion attached to the vy,
& pilatoon of Jipancse marines and
& smaller detachiment of Porovosas
volunteers, recruites! prienarily 45
labowr Force. I mid - Septomlser
1943 the garrison received word
fromy fricndly locals thai Allied
spies had shipped into the motmeains
arpand Aitape. A patrol was
dispatched i track thess down b
returned STy handed. A Fevward
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was olfered bo aniy Jocal whe could
catit thee Akt soddiers.

Diespite: 3 warning from a local
that the nussion had been
conypromised, Staverman opled 1o
press on towards Hollaodia,
Togetler with Pattinacl be soomed
dhesd while 58Tlect and Reharin
rermasnad af Worma with the radia
Thas=e are the last dedfinite details that
remain of the Whiting partys
movements, Through Asgue and
Septernbier Hotle was heard, Sifflest
probably trying to minimise gae of
hix radio to paid detection. What
Fodbrws heas heen pieced together
[rises mbes Togatiies ul Japaisese
prisomers amnd translations of
Japanese drsrumends.

Sometinge in mid-Sepremiser
Pattiwael and Seaverman were
ambashed near the village of Merao,
songth od Hollandia, Staverman wae
killed but Pattiwael managed
escape b0 warm Sifflewt and Rebarin
ol Woema, Silflect semt one last

rhat Staverman had been
Killed and that he would destroy his
codes and eadio and head south
tervcards 'Wamala Creek, the buse
AT of another ATH party.

Siffleet amel his pariy neves
misdhe it At Wantipi, o group of
about 100 local supporters of the
Japaniese surrounded them when
they stopped for a meal, Siffleet

fired on the attackers, wounding
ane, and managed o bregk free bt
was quickly cought, He and his
companions were beaten and abised
ey their captors & they were led 10
the [apancec outpost at Mabol,
where they were exchanged oo 24
patinn money. and & moll of e,

At Malol the prismers wers
iaerropated] by Yunome and Hivoe,
Siffleer ot firse ssid nothing. He was
slapped and beaten, and then Hirae
lseat hirm sgaln using both & loeg
stick and a clab. Sifflert in the end
spparently sabd gquite o lot, s
revealed [n Yunome's report,
perhaps another indicator of the
IsrwinBley of kis ordeal. Mot much of
what he said would bave been any
wie o the Japanee, howerer,

He pave away many basie
details, bug the story he told of his
owe mnlesbon and that of his mates
i the Locust party was o Ebi-
cation, ¥With Ereat coursge, he was
lasted for three daye and the
prisoeiers spent two wocks at Malol
h&ml‘mns taken to AH»;.P-&.

Addmideal Eamada, the japanese
commander in Wewak, was

informed of the coprurs of the

prisoters. He did pot rogand them
as heing of much importance: and
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they langisished, Brst st Malol and
then at Aitape, while their captors
waater] for word an whet shouald be
done, Op 27 or 23 Octoher,
Captain Noto, Kamada's chiel stafl
nfficer, reporied w hivn that 2 barge
was ahout to beave for Aitape,
Almost a5 o seoond  thought,
Karnsda told Moto o instrct the
barpe’s captain to pass on to
Warrant Officer Wartanabe, the
commarsder of the [apaness marines
ar Aftape, orders to kill the
prisoners, Moto baer clamed the
ileciaian had been veached alter a
“military punishment tritunal™ hacl
been comvenvd by Kamnsda, 1a the
'|Ig|:|t of 1he contradiciory
atatements of all ool ved, it woadd

cgeem that this tribumssl mever ook

Frltoming the Teceipt of his
orders on 23 Octaber, Watanabe
intended to shoot the prisoners the
rext day, As 3 naatter of procedure
b voisefted Yasuno, the cvilian
admimistrator. and  his notional
superior. Yasano waz indignant,
Mingeilu personnel had copured
the prisoners, so they woukd have
the honour of executing them in
scoordance with Japanese tradition.

This-an 34 Clotaler 1943,
before a crowd of jeering locals,
Sifflect, Rebarin and Pattiwael
were behewded by theee Jopanese
civillans: Yasuno Chikso, an
adsninistrator, Tunome Eonss, an
interpreter, and Mitsuashi Masaro,
a clerk: Siflleet went quietly 1o his
i, befow the tidie line, Later thas
afternoan the three pxmowtioners
perurned o place Mowers on the
grn.w-:.Th: nExt -|h:|r. there woudd b
Ettle trace af the horribde tvents that
had takien place but they wold Hve
wan b the mind of Yundsne Kusio,

‘itiag ard Looec? Missicns

— el ey e Lo by &
ety e Lignad
—_—

—— B s P
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Mambiers of M Speckt L with depes guerids roops ot Lami, about 50 ke seath of Aitage, shonly befors e Whiting s Locust
it separeted o wderiake thatr respdctien mindiess. B¢t Sreermen i of the axirame 1af [obacuredt next to him i S Bifffeat.
Pt Pattesel i standing Fourth from iy GAVS P TORD04)

That right he wrate in his diary:
This afterneon for me was an
arcdsioh B e remseetberad __f-'*f i
j':l_ll'quulg. | mip;.t_f_i". with my own
_Fnrplunm sword beheaded un LI
sidier priwoner. This w4 pew

experience for me. But | screwsd myeell

o i .dn_]thzn*r e e dors _J_f' oné
resofves o e 0 b the bere o ome's
m‘:-j.':i'tr_u. And | am convined that given
vomphete confidence | oo carry o
ity Firsl .rull.'J.v.\;j"-ll iy 1 seally faligwr
{ wos magnificent. Amergit the
Japaese antookers there werr many
who declamed thetr odmiretion for my
skill dn making mich an. excedien
st

i Decembser 1943 the Ariny
posted Sergeant Len Siffleet missing
in aodan, believed whe a prisoner
of war This was the last his family
heard wetil he was alficially declared
dhoadl in P94 i dhar point thi meeny
tried ta reclaim all the money tha
Beael by i st hods buaonlk el
dhring the previows three yors. His
JTave was never Fenumwf,

Thie Jast Clartee Lane heard al
her fance was & telegram received
froms the AR on |5 September
1943, a week before SHTlect was
captured. Not listeed 2 his official
mext of b, Clarice received 1o
atficial motificstlon thai Lem was
rrebssing, no that b was dead . Alfter
the war she drifted owt of wuch
with the Sillleet fomily and married

another man. Clarice only learmied
of Siffleet's fte on Anmzac [y
1983, whsen the infamots ]'.hlﬂ.-:l W
shown on A Carrent Affair

s DS the Japarsess respansible
few the cheaths of Len Siffleet and his
caxmjaribone atrsesd trial for  war
wrimmes. Moo, Watanshe anid Tainome
were all found puilty, Noto was

ﬂmw learned o
S iad
1989, wairi@

pheto: wr. mmn ‘A
t:'mfm mﬁ

senfenced o pweniy soven years’
imnprisanment, Watanabe to'seven
wpl  Yaneeme was gentenced 1o
J|.=.n|_l|: his execiiion warrand seas
|ign.|,'.-e! In} Lisnienant (General
Sturdee on 15 Septembar 1946,
Yunome mads several appeals
lor lenioncy, stgulng that he was
umly -'Jnrr_l.'irug mut orders that he
regarclotl as Jowhl . His first appeal
The second made
rederenes 1o the dublous evidence,
given by MNotes, Ul 4 vowrt bearing
of seerts had been convenesd before
the prisonirs were excouted. b ligh
of the Fndings and sentences of the
pther trials, Yonome's desth

was - qquashed.

sEndence Was commaried o fen
pears’ imprisonment.

Eamade and Mitsuashi wers
captured and tried by the Datch
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Kamada wis ﬂﬁmlumﬂ}'ﬂaf‘wwd
for this rmerder of other prisoners
ik Hlljkjﬂ.l.sﬂ.l'l. winibe  the lare of
Mitsuhasi, removed
repatriation ship juse houcs. belore
it sabled for Japan, is unkeowm
Yasano sl Miroe were kilbed while
Iy i cacape Fram the Americans
at Hollandia,

Len Sifflect was an . ordinacy
Agatrallan s o do s extra-
vrdinary job, oo diffevent Trom
thousands of others in the AIF. In
19943 e was seni On 8 TecOn-

Irom &

nakssanios misston ko New Guines,
e wras E'r::.:l_\'od. heeaier anad then
executed. Lon Sifllest was 2 soldisr
acting l:lu!_v_r i ordered, bot s
exeoutinners did not see this 2= a
reason for clemency. While he
waited in Port Moreshy to leave on
that fateful mission, Len wrote o
his sister Pesarl:

Timer have cerainly tamed e
arpund, Frelve maasitls age ! imagined
| would be an wld merried man by
ik el hrotigle e har o long G Lo
irve and there 1s still plenty of tme.

The author <t

{rarth Pratten 5 o Misterion at
the Amstralion War Memarinl, The
auther would ke o theok M
Raymond "Bopd” Gondon {51,
Hr Ronald !:.'_:jﬂnra aind Mew Clarice
Mills for 1hair binuf cimistoncs during
the roorse a-_'ll'-ﬁr'* praror
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FOI 457/17/18
Serial 2

R3338960633389606(DRMS SENSITIVE For action by: 1300h 20 Feb 18
ID)

DECISION BRIEF FOR DSSIM-A, CHAIR OF UWC-A ID BOARD 01/18

1. Purpose. To seek a decision on Operation Aussies Home’s (OAH) submission that the
Unlsnown Australian Soldier (UAS) buried in the Commonwealth War Cemetery Lae PNG Plot
PP, Row A, Grave 7 (PP.A.7) is or is not that of NX143314 SGT Leonard Gordon Siffleet who

was killed by the Japanese on 24 Oct 1943.

2. Recommendation. It is recommended that the board decide:

a. That on the balance of probabilities, the Unknown Australian Soldier buried in PP.A.7,
Commonwealth War Cemetery Lae PNG IS /NX143314 Sergeant Leonard
Gordon Siffleet.

Identified as SGT Sifflee(/ Not Identified QSGT Sifleet (Please circle)

3. Background. Operation Aussies Home (OAH) made a submission to Unrecovered War
Casualties — Army (UWC-A), ‘Request for a Headstone Change and addendum’ in relation to
that of NX143314 Sergeant (SGT) L.G. Siffleet who was executed along with his two Ambonese
companions on the beach near Aitape on 24th October 1943.

4. Operation Aussies Home has put forward the hypothesis based on the Balance of
Probability, that the Unidentified Australian Soldier (UAS) that was recorded as washed up east of
the mouth of the Nigia River, Aitape, on the 24 Jan 1945 and who is now interred in the
Commonwealth War Cemetery at Lae, Plot PP, Row A, Grave 7, is in fact Siffleet. The board has
been presented with all of OAH’s submissions and annexes for consideration in advance of the
meeting.

5. Having reviewed the OAH submissions, UWC-A does not support OAH’s hypothesis,
for the following reasons:

a. Forensic opinions from Ms Felicity Gilbert and Captain Donna MacGregor both
consider it highly unlikely that a body buried in the tropics for around 15 months would
survive to be recognised as a “body” as described in the records.

b. That two other Australian soldiers were lost drowned in the vicinity of the recovered
bodies in the preceding weeks to the recovered body. Aquatic taphonomy is a
developing science and these individuals cannot be excluded as the soldier washed up on
24 Jan 1945. Ms Gilbert’s report considers these drowned soldiers more likely
candidates than SGT Siffleet for the body recovered.

C. The OAH submission relies on shifting sands to explain how the body could be
misinterpreted as “washed up” when it may have been “uncovered.” OAH provided no
theory as to why the 1943/44 and 1944/45 monsoon season be discounted in the
exposing of the body,

d. OAH provided no theory as to why the two Ambonese executed at the same time as
Siffleet be discounted,

SENSITIVE

Page 27 of 77



SENSITIVE
2

c. The OAH submission suggests that SGT Siffleet was in fact executed at the NIGIA
river. They hypothesise that a Japanese barge base may have existed there a potential
site for interrogations. No evidence regarding a barge base has been presented, and
extensive war crimes evidence suggesting SGT Siffleet was executed at Aitape beach,
17km away from the Nigia River has been discounted or not presented.

f. UWC-A has review the OAH submission, addendums and all known evidence available
and the end result being, we are not satisfied on the balance of probabilities, that the
UAS recovered near the mouth Nigia river on 25 Jan 1945 is SGT Siffleet.

6. Issue. OAH’s submission is not supported by UWC-A, however should be considered
independently by the board, and stand on its merits. Mr“may be contacted by
telephone if any matters of confirmation are required. Regardless of the board’s decision, this
matter is likely to be subject to public scrutiny.

7. Way ahead. Upon reaching a board decision, appropriate notifications will be sent to
the Operation Aussies Home. Regardless of the decision made, OAH should be commended for
their research and contribution to the attempts to locate SGT Siffleet. If the board chooses to
identify the body as SGT Siffleet, additional work will commence in notifying family, Ministers
and the Office of Australian War Graves for subsequent headstone changes.

8. If the board decides not to identify the body as SGT Siffleet, ongoing work will attempt
to identify the body and locate SGT Siffleet in the field.

9. Conclusion. This brings to a close a significant body of work from MAJ Hampson and
OAH who should both be acknowledged for their detailed work on this case.

Drafted by:  Mr Brad Ebert ICM-AP UWC-A Tel: 67600 19 Feb 18
Cleared by: COL A. Collingburn DSSIM-A Tel: 54377 20 Feb 18
Consultation: Board members: COL A. Collingburn (Chair), COL P. Saultry , LCDR J. Duke

M| ot Supported

P. Saultry i J. Duke
COL COL LCDR
(Chair 1/18 ID Board)  (1/18 ID Board Member) (1/18 ID Board Member)
DSSIM-A CLO-A HQ ADFIS
Tel: 02 6265 4377 Tel: 02 6265 3868 Tel: 02 6127 2590
R1-4-B028 R1-4-A99 BP-33-02-089
2 ¢ Feb 18 20 Feb 18 2 Feb 18
SENSITIVE
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FOI 457/17/18
Serial 3

REPORT ON REMAINS OF UNIDENTIFIED AUTRALIAN SOLDIER BURIED AT
LAE COMMONWEALTH WAR CEMETRY PLOT P.P.A.7
(PROPOSED TO BE LEONARD SIFFLEET)

1. Statement of Qualifications and Experience

I, Donna Marie MacGREGOR, state that | am a Senior Forensic Officer within the
Brisbane Scientific Section of Forensic Services Group at the rank of Sergeant. | have
over 14 years’ experience in this role. Of these 8 years’ experiences was full time and
involved the examination of all types of major crime scenes including skeletal recovery
scenes, but more recently this role has been part-time where | have been focused on
training in human anatomy, pathology and skeletal recovery, and assisted in the
examination of major crime scenes pertaining to skeletal remains. In this role | have
assisted with the examination of 5 large-scale forensic search operations related to the
various long-term cold case investigations. | also act in the capacity of forensic
anthropologist for the Queensland Police Service. | have over 14 years’ experience in
this role.

| am also a lecturer in human anatomy and forensic anthropology within the School of
Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health at Queensland University of Technology,
Brisbane. In this role | teach human anatomy and forensic anthropology to
undergraduate students in Biomedical sciences, Medical Imaging, and Radiation
therapy, and supervise research by postgraduate Masters students in the field of
forensic crime scene and forensic anthropology related topics. | have over 7 years’
experience in this role.

| also serve as a Captain (Reserve member) within the Australian Army in the role of
Forensic Anthropologist posted to the specialist unit, Unrecovered War Causalities-
Army (UWC-A). In this role | am part of multidisciplinary field teams tasked with the
location, recovery and identification of remains of Australian Soldiers from WWI and
WWII and have undertaken this work in Belgium, France, Malaysia and Papua New
Guinea including the area around Aitape. | have completed 14 international activities in
the 8 years | have served in this role.

| am the holder of a Bachelor of Science degree with Honours from the University of
Queensland; a Masters of Science in Forensic Science from Griffith University; and a
Diploma in Fire Investigation from the Queensland Fire and Rescue Authority. | am
currently undertaking a Diploma in Forensic Human ldentification through the Faculty of
Forensic and Legal Medicine, Royal College of Physicians, London.
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2. Background

This report outlines the probability of Unidentified remains of an Unknown Australian
Soldier (UAS) recovered at GR 059463 (Map: Aitape East 1”) at the mouth of the Nigia
River, Aitape on the 25 January 1945, now buried in Lae Commonwealth War Cemetery
in plot P.P.A.7, as those belonging to NX 143314 Sergeant (SGT) Leonard George
SIFFLEET.

NX 143314 Sergeant (SGT) Leonard George SIFFLEET served in the AIF in WW2. ltis
believed that he was beheaded by a member of the Japanese forces near Aitape in
Dutch New Guinea on the 24 October 1943. This identification was based on a
photograph taken from a deceased Japanese officer in April 1944 at Hollandia, that
depicts a blindfolded kneeling Australian solider whose head was forward being towered
over by a Japanese solider with a sword above his head. This photograph has received
wide publicity. The body of SIFFLEET has not been recovered.

This report is provided based on an understanding of soft tissue decomposition and the
processes that can affect decomposition rather than any other supporting
documentation except for the excerpts nominated in the report below. The opinion
provided in this report is formed on:
e professional experience with decomposed and skeletal remains through
contemporary and cold case forensic casework,
e practical experience and observations with the recovery of military remains from
various theatres including the area around Aitape, and
e areview of the available academic literature around this topic.

3. Factors that affect the Decomposition of Human Remains

Decomposition is a natural process whereby organic matter is broken down into smaller
elements and returned to the environment. The normal process of decomposition, or
decay as it is also called, of a body passes through various identifiable stages of decay.
Depending on the publication, this process has five (5) main stages. These stages
include fresh, bloat, decay, remains (or dry stage) and skeletisation. The time taken for
a body to pass through these stages is dependent on a number of variables. These
include primarily temperature, moisture and depositional environment after death i.e. the
environment surrounding the body (Janaway et al 2009).

(i) Temperature and Moisture
With regards to temperature, the higher the temperatures the faster the rate of decay.

Therefore, bodies will decompose faster in summer than in winter. The amounts of
moisture (i.e. from ground water, precipitation etc) in the environment around the body
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will also, though to a smaller extent, have an effect with watery environments promoting
continual breakdown of the remains.

(i) Depositional Environment
The depositional environment also has a significant effect on the rate of decomposition.
This depositional environment depends on the position of the body relative to the
ground surface (i.e. depth of burial), and if the scenario is a burial then the presence of
any coverings (i.e. clothing and/or coffin) and the soil particle size has a significant
influence.

A body on the surface will decompose more rapidly than a body submerged in water or
buried beneath the ground surface. Further a body buried in a shallow grave will
decompose more quickly than a body buried at a depth greater than 50cm, as the
shallow burial is subject to daily fluctuations in temperature that effect the soil surface
and penetrate partial into the soil profile. This is especially true of clay soils. Deeper
burials experience a more constant temperature thus slowing decomposition effects.

The presence of coverings surrounding the buried body is also important. If the body is
disposed of within some form of covering or a coffin, decomposition will proceed at a
slower rate as the soil environment is prevented from contact with the body, and air
borne vectors such as insects are excluded from the body. However, without some
covering around the buried body, the soil microorganisms and/or possible insect vectors
can more easily access the body and accelerate decomposition. This is especially true
of shallower burials.

The type of soil, or rather the soil particle size is as important as the depth of burial,
when considering the decay rate of a body. The particle size affects water permeability
and air exchange (Bethell and Carver 1987). For example, clay soils due to their hold
water as they are more permeable and thus accelerate decomposition. A damp porous
soil promotes accelerated rates of decomposition. In a tropical environment water
passes through the sand both due to precipitation events (i.e. rainfall), and in coastal
areas from tides and high-water tables.

The size of the body will have an effect on the rate of decay. A thin or emaciated body
will decompose at a more rapid rate than a larger body (Mant 1987). The report by
Thurgar & Latimer dated 3 Mar 2017, provides evidence via the photograph of an
emaciated Sgt SIFFLETT at the time of his death. In addition, trauma, such as that
caused by torture to the body will also promote the rate of decomposition.

(i) Report by Thurgar and Laitmer dated 3 Mar 2017
The report nominated above presents various references to the possible burial site of
SIFFLEET, and also to the physical condition of SIFFLLEET. These are presented
below.
In the report by Thurgar & Latimer dated 3 Mar 2017, it states on page 12, paragraph
65:
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“It is reported in Japanese annals and native ‘stories’, that on or about 3.00 pm on the
24 October 1943, SGT Siffleet and two fellow Ambonese prisoners (PTE Pattiwahl and
PTE Reharin, who were members of the Netherlands East Indies Forces) were marched
to the beach nearby to the Barge Base. They were forced to the ground and made to kneel
before a crowd of Japanese and New Guinean onlookers. Wearing blindfolds, the three
prisoners were beheaded and buried”.

Page 11, paragraph 63 states:
“It is contended that the ‘beach’ (mud flats) near the location of the Japanese barge
transportation unit (2 Spl Sea Transport Unit) is the logical place where the beheading of
SGT Siffleet.”

Page 14, paragraph 67 states:
“As reported earlier in this document, and consistent with Japanese military practices
after carrying out a beheading in the SWPA, the remains were buried at or nearby the
place of execution.”

Page 14, paragraph 70 states:
“Multiple reports ranging from native accounts through to the Court Martial records of
Yasuno Chikao, who was found guilty of his beheading, indicate that SGT Siffleet was
buried on the beach at or near Aitape.”

Page 14, paragraph 73 states:
“The beach near Lemieng village (hamlet) where SGT Siffleet was buried, faces out to
sea and does not have the impediment of off-shore coral reefs or islands.”

Page 17, paragraph 85 states:
“(a) there is evidence to indicate the remains of SGT Siffleet were buried at depth in
sand/mud on the 24 October 1943 at Grid Reference 060463, Map Aitape East, 1:63360
(1 inch/mile).”

Therefore, from these statements it is deduced that SIFFLEET was buried at an
unknown depth in sandy/muddy soil, on or near a beach, without any coverings except
for at least the clothing they were wearing at the time of death which included a shirt
and a pair of shorts.

(iv) Observations of the Altape soll
In addition to the known information above, the author of this report has had experience
with burials in the Aitape area. The coastal areas along the beaches have sandy silt
soil and the presence of a high-water table. The daily temperature in this near
equatorial area is over 30 degrees Celsius. High humidity is experienced all year and
the area receives high annual rainfall (i.e. 100+ ml). The wet season occurs from
December to March. These conditions are conducive to accelerated decomposition due
to the moist warm porous nature of the soil.
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4. Possibility of UAS being SIFFLEET

Sgt SIFFLEET was killed on 24 October 1943. UAS was located on 25 January 1945.
This presents a post-mortem, or time since death, interval of 15 months.

A review of the literature, located no studies that considered for the conditions that have
been described for the possible SIFFLEET burial. Similar studies in temperate climates
have been conducted. Any studies in tropical environments have examined clothing and
coffin effects. Though these studies are still not a direct comparison they do provide
some assistance with post-mortem intervals.

Studies in Croatia determined that bodies buried in their clay soils in summer had all
soft tissue sodden and bones becoming exposed (Morovic-Budak 1965). In Coral atolls
in the Pacific bodies buried in plywood coffins were partially skeletonised between 3.5 -
4.5 years post-mortem (Spennemann and Franke 1995).

Though these studies are no direct comparisons, they do provide some guidance
towards decay rates. The conditions in Aitape are warmer with higher rainfall and
humidity, and the body of SIFFLEET was buried and assumed to not be protected from
the environment. Also, at the time of death SIFFLEET was emaciated and wounded
due to the torture he had sustained. The soil in Aitape is sandy and porous and not
clay. These additional variables will substantially accelerate the rate of decomposition of
remains.

It is therefore highly probable that the remains of SIFFLEET would have been in a more
advanced state of decomposition if not skeletonised in the 15 months interval between
his death and the discovery of the UAS remains. In my opinion It is unlikely that the
body reported as UAS on the grave registration card on page 20, paragraph 86 of the
report by Thurgar & Latimer dated 3 Mar 2017, is that of SGT SIFFLEET based on the
state of decomposition of the UAS still recognisable as a “body”.

5. Conclusion

In my opinion it is highly unlikely that the body reported as UAS, now buried at
Lae plot number PPA7, is that of SGT SIFFLEET. This opinion is based on the
expected state of decomposition of the body of SIFFLEET given the proposed burial
environment and their reported state of the body of UAS from the grave registration
card. Given the 15-month interval between the death of SIFFLEET on 24 October 1943
and the discovery of the remains of UAS on 25 January 1945, the body of SIFFLEET
would be expected to be in an advanced state of decomposition and most likely to be in
a partial or near skeletonised state, not a recognisable “body”.
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FOI 457/17/18
Serial 4

Report on two bodies recovered from Aitape on 24/01/1945
and 21/02/1945.

13 February
2018

Felicity Gilbert

My name is Felicity Gilbert I am a Bioanthropologist and PHD Candidate at the Australian National
University, specialising in decomposition and more specifically decomposition in aquatic
environments.

My qualifications are:

e Bachelor of Arts
e Post Graduate Diploma of Forensic Anthropology
e Master of Applied Anthropology
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INTRODUCTION

This report covers details pertaining to two bodies recovered from the Aitape area on 24/01/1945
and 21/02/1945. It details the probability of any of these two recovered bodies belonging to fourteen
individuals (twelve Australian Soldiers and two Indonesians) that were either executed (EP1-3), lost
in the flooding of the Danmap river (DMP 1-8), or went missing, presumed drowned (MP1 -3),
between 24/10/1943 and 19/02/1945.

I, Felicity Gilbert, as an expert in human decomposition and more specifically human
decomposition in aquatic environments was requested to give my professional opinion by Professor
Marc Oxenham, School of Archaeology and Anthropology, Australian national University, based
on the information provided in Appendix 1.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Recovered body one.

Based on the information received and factors discussed, in my professional opinion it is possible
that Body one could belong to one of the five individuals (excluding MP2 and DMP1-8) that died
in the area between 1943 and 1945.

DMP1-8 are excluded as they were lost three days after the recovery of body one.

MP2 is excluded as they went missing 26 days after the recovery of body one.

In my professional opinion, out of the five individuals, Missing Persons number 1 and number 3
are the most likely candidates.

Recovered body two.

Based on the information received and factors discussed, in my professional opinion it is possible
that recovered body two could belong to one of the fourteen individuals that died in the area
between 1943 and 1945.

In my professional opinion, out of the fourteen individuals, Missing Person number 2 would be the
most likely candidate.

Page 36 of 77



LOCATION INFORMATION (Bernie, 2018)

B1: Remains found just above sea level approximately 18 metres east of mouth of the Nigia River.
B2: Found floating in shallow water opposite 17 Bde HQ. Close proximity to B1 recovery location.
EP1-3: All documentary references to EP1-3 indicate that they were executed and buried in the
vicinity of a beach at AITAPE on 24 October 1943. However, one theory is that they may have been
executed in the immediate vicinity of the recovery of B1, as hypothesised by the public submission

(Bernie, 2018).

MP 1: last seen at the beach at Aitape. There are several long beaches to which this could refer, and
the precise location is not known. Reported to have drowned while of unsound mind.

MP2: was last seen swimming approximately 8km to the NW of the location of B1 and B2 recoveries.
MP3: was last seen drowned in the Nigia River, the same river at the mouth of which B1 was
recovered from. According to one source, he was las seen in an unconscious state in the mouth of the

river some 6 weeks earlier.

DMP1-8: lost in a flood at the Danmap River, approximately 50km to the East of B1 and B2.

BODY ONE (B1): RECOVERED 24/01/1945
EP1 — 3: executed 24/10/1943 or 458 days prior to B1 recovery.

MP1: Missing, presumed drowned 27/11/1944 or 58 days prior to B1 recovery
MP2: Missing, presumed drowned 19/02/1945 or 26 days post B1 recovery

MP3: Missing, presumed drowned 04/12/1944 or 51 days prior to B1 recovery
DMP 1-8: lost in the Danmap River flooding 27/01/1945 or 3 days post B1 recovery

MP2 and DMP 1-8 immediately ruled out due to timeframe.

Decomposition:

From the brief description provided, the body appears to be in an advanced state of decomposition but
presenting with some degree of adhering soft tissues. The mention of sea lice damage also implies that
some soft tissue was still present. The water temperature in this location averages between 27 and 30
degrees Celsius (COSPPac 2017 & NOAA 2017), which would promote fairly rapid decomposition.

Both wave action and sea lice can significantly accelerate the breakdown of a body in a water
environment. Sea lice scavenging is extremely variable. They have been known to decimate a

Page 37 of 77



human body in a matter of days but may also cause minimal disturbance, leaving only bore holes
on areas of soft tissue (Tsokos, 2005).

While the body was missing its head and feet, this could be a result of various extrinsic factorssuch
as scavenging, movement in the water and general decomposition. The head (starting with the
mandible), followed by the hands and feet are generally the first parts of the body to detach in a
water environment (Haglund, 1993). While I would expect to see the hands following a similar
sequence, the position of the body in the water as well as possible scavenging may have contributed
to the feet disarticulating first.

The description does not imply that the head and feet were removed through human intervention,
but this may have been impossible to determine given the level of decomposition and lack of
appropriate expertise. Without further information it is not possible to determine if the head was
removed by natural processes or through human intervention (e.g. sharp force trauma).

EP 1-3:

In general, decomposition occurs relatively rapidly in tropical conditions (Hayman and Oxenham
2017), although the rate of decomposition will be affected by a range of factors. As the depth of
burial(s) is unknown, determination of the possible rate of decomposition is difficult to estimate.
However, in a sandy, warm and moist environment [ would expect decomposition to progress fairly
quickly (Spennemann et al. 1995. Rysavy and Goff 2014). If the three individuals were buried in
the same grave, this could also create a higher bacterial load. The open decapitation wounds, even if
the bodies were buried immediately, also has the potential to attract insects and accelerate the
decomposition process (Anderson, 1997). While decomposition within multiple-body graves (i.e.
mass grave) may vary significantly by any given body’s position and depth within a mass grave
(e.g. Troutman et al. 2014), there is no information on the structure of the grave (e.g. single grave
with bodies buried side by side, overlapping, on top of each other etc.) or graves in this instance and
no inferences regarding differential decomposition among these three individuals can be made.

It is possible that some level of preservation may have occurred to EP1-3 whilst interred, in the
form of Adipocere (Spennemann et al. 1995). Had this occurred, the body(ies) may have preserved
(a form of mummification) some of the underlying tissue and given the appearance of advanced
decomposition but with some tissue intact. The likelihood of this kind of preservation is highly
dependent on the depth of the grave, moisture content and consistency of the sand (see Hayman and
Oxenham 2016:93-4 for a discussion of decomposition rates with respect moisture level). As this
information is not available, it is not possible to speculate as to whether this has occurred, but it is
an outlying possibility.

However, had the bodies been dislodged from their grave(s) on the beach and spent some time in
the water, I would expect a fairly rapid breakdown through water movement and wave action
regardless of their level of preservation. The description states that this body was found on land
‘washed up during a storm on the previous day’ implying it had been subject to some level of
turbulence within the water.

The time frame of 458 days between disappearance and recovery, the level of decomposition and
scavenging activity described, makes it highly unlikely that B1 is any of the three executed
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persons.

MP1: Given the time frame of 58 days between disappearance and recovery, the level of
decomposition and scavenging activity described, it is possible that B1 could be MP1.

MP3: Given the time frame of 51 days between disappearance and recovery, the level of
decomposition and scavenging activity described, it is possible that B1 could be MP3.

# at an advanced state of decomposition and without further information the 7 days difference
between MP1 and MP3 is negligible.
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Summary: Recovered body one

As explained above, without further information regarding the state of decomposition on the body
it is very difficult to determine if MP1 was presenting just an advanced state of decomposition, or
displayed a level of preservation which has implications in establishing a timeframe. In my
professional opinion, it is highly unlikely that recovered body number one belongs to any of the
executed persons (EP1 -3).

Based on the information received and factors discussed above, in my professional opinion it is
possible that Body one could belong to one of the five individuals (excluding MP2 and DMP1-8)
that died in the area between 1943 and 1945.

In my professional opinion, out of the five individuals, Missing Persons number 1 and number 3
are the most likely candidates.
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BODY TWO: RECOVERED 21/02/1945
EP1 — 3: executed 24/10/1943 486 days prior to B2 recovery.

MP1: Missing, presumed drowned 27/11/1944 86 days prior to B2 recovery

MP2: Missing, presumed drowned 19/02/1945 3 days prior to B2 recovery

MP3: Missing, presumed drowned 04/12/1944 79 days prior to B2 recovery
DMP1-8: Lost in Danmap River Flooding 27/01/1945 25 days prior to B2 recovery

Decomposition

From the descriptions provided, this body, while fairly decomposed had not been in the water for
an extensive period of time. This is evident from the descriptions of bloat around the facial area.

The water temperature in this location averages between 27 and 30 degrees Celsius (COSPPac
2017 & NOAA 2017). At these temperatures, bloat in the facial area could present in a matter of
days. The statement also mentions that the body was found floating in shallow water. This
reinforces the description of bloat observed. The temperature of the water is conducive to both
bloat and subsequent floatation within a short timeframe (Heaton et al 2010).

The statement that the body had been mauled by sharks with the right arm, right foot and a portion of
the abdomen missing would have contributed to the state of the body (Allaire et al 2012).

The statement that the body had been in the water for at least one week is plausible, but in my
opinion this timeframe would not be significantly longer than one week and could have been
shorter due to the factors described above.

EP 1-3: From the description provided, the head was present and presumably attached. It would be
highly unlikely to find the head even in close proximity to the body had it been actually detached,
particularly if the body had been in the water for any significant amount of time.

Given the time frame of 486 days between disappearance and recovery, the level of decomposition
and scavenging activity, as well as the preservation of an attached head, described for B2 does not
indicate it could plausibly be identified as any of the three executed persons.

MP1: Given the time frame of 86 days between disappearance and recovery, the level of
decomposition and scavenging activity described, B2 is highly unlikely to be MP1.

MP2: the level of decomposition and scavenging activity described for B2 is plausible within a
timeframe of 3 days.

MP3: Given the time frame of 79 days between disappearance and recovery, the level of
decomposition and scavenging activity described, B2 is highly unlikely to be MP3.

DMP1-8: While surface current data is not available for this timeframe, current speeds for the
area range between 0.05 and 0.30 metres per second (COSPPac 2017) and one of DMP1-8 could
have drifted to the recovery location within the timeframe. Considering the level of
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decomposition, and scavenging activity described for B2, I would expect a more advanced level
of decomposition and damage to the body if it had drifted 50km’s. While there is an outside
possibility within the timeframe of 25 days that one of DMP1-8 could be MP2, my professional
opinion is that t/his is highly unlikely.

Summary: Recovered body two.

Based on the information received and factors discussed above, in my professional opinion it is
possible that Body two could belong to one of the fourteen individuals that died in the area
between 1943 and 1945.

In my professional opinion, out of the fourteen individuals, Missing Person number 2 would be the
most likely candidate.

Signed

Felicity Gilbert 19/02/2018.
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Appendix 1

(1) Soldiers Known to have died or gone missing in the Area ofinterest

Executed Person One executed on 24 October 1943

Australian male - late 20s, beheaded on beach. Buried on beach. Depth of grave unknown.

Executed Person Two- executed on 24 October 1943

Ambonese male -mid 20s, beheaded on beach. Buried on beach. Depth of grave unknown.

Executed Person Three - executed on 24 October 1943

Ambonese male -mid 20s, beheaded on beach. Buried on beach. Depth of grave unknown.

It is possible that all three were buried in the same grave on the beach, as they were executed one
after another in the same location. Their place of execution, and burial is on the beach in the Aitape
region.

Missing Soldier One- missing on 27 November 1944

His (brief) records indicate: drowned accidentally while of unsound mind. Was last seen in the
sea at Aitape at about 0520 hours, when he disappeared 100 yards (91 metres) from shore. A
search failed to recover the body.

Missing Soldier Two- missing on 19 February 1945

His personal Army records indicate his disappearance as: drowned accidentally while attending
an authorised swimming parade. Body not recovered. Court of Inquiry held on 14 March 1945.
Missing Soldier Three- missing on 4 December 1944

His personal Army records indicate his disappearance as: accidentally drowned -onduty at the
time, attending an organised swimming parade; body not recovered.
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(2) Bodies recovered from the area, and during the time, ofinterest

Note, only two bodies were recovered, at different times, but both apparently in the general area
of the Aitape Township.

Body One- found 24 January 1945

Remains found just above sea level approximately 20 yards (18 metres) east of mouth of the
Nigia River. Body had been washed up during a storm on the previous day (23 January). Body
too decomposed through action of water and sea lice to note any deformities etc.

‘An Officer from Junior Leaders’ School, situated near the mouth of the Nigia River reported that
the remains of an Unidentified Australian Soldier had been washed up above sea level, approx 20
yds (18 metres) east of the mouth of the Nigia River. Capt Kerr and Party investigated and
recovered the remains (Head and feet missing). Records held by his Unit indicate that the
remains could be that of a Private xxx who was last seen in an unconscious condition in the
mouth of the Nigia River some six weeks previously. But due to lack of any means of confirming
identification, the remains were buried in Aitape Aust War Cemetery as Unidentified Australian
Soldier.”

Body Two- found 21 February 1945

Date of official burial 22 February 1945. Report of discovery of remains received 12 March 1945,
42/8B/1518. Found floating in shallow water opposite 17 Bde HQ. Body recovered by 17 Bde
personnel. Body has been mauled by sharks. Right foot missing. Portion of abdomen, back and
right arm missing. Body appears to have been immersed in water for at least one week. Head
swollen up and features badly disfigured.

(3) Task

Six individuals (4 Australian Soldiers and two Indonesians) were either executed or went
missing, presumed drowned, between the 24™ October 1943 and 19" February 1945. Three of
these individuals were known to have been decapitated and buried immediately after execution
(on 24" October 1943).

Two individuals were recovered in the general area of all six deaths (or instances of missing,
presumed dead), one on the 24" January 1945 and one on 21% February 1945.

Based on the facts (as listed above) and your professional opinion, as an expert in human
decomposition (particularly decomposition in aquatic environments), what is the probability of
these two recovered sets of remains belong to any of the six individuals that died or went missing
in this area between 1943 and 1945.

10
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Further, in your professional opinion, who are the two most likely candidates for the
recovered, but otherwise unidentified, bodies.
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FOI 457/17/18
Serial 5

Identification Board
01/18

Studio portrait of Len Siffleet in civilian clothes. AWM photo
ID number P02547.001

Welcome Gentlemen/Ladies, (as appropriate)

Introduce everyone

We are here today to undertake an Identification Board in relation to NX14331 Sergeant
Leonard Gordon SIFFLEET who was executed by the Japanese on the 24 October 1943 on
the beach at AITAPE, NEW GUINEA during World War Two. SGT Siffleet was executed by
beheading along with two Ambonese companions after they had been captured
operating behind enemy lines. Their bodies have never been recovered.
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Authority

» This board:
— IAW Draft Chapter 8 DBCSM - board
— IAW DIG Pers 20-4 - current
— IAW ASI Part 9 Chapter 3 — balance of probabilities

* Process based on Fromelles ID board

 Authority under Section 81 of the Defence
Regulations 2016

* Process and delegations

As you can see this Board is required to make its decision on the Balance of Probabilities.

It draws it Authority, process and delegations from the references mentioned on this
slide.
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Standard of proof

» Balance of probabilities™

— “standard of proof required in civil law cases, i.e. itis
more probable than not that what the person says
happened is true.”

- 51%

— The board is “reasonably satisfied”

— Sliding scale due to seriousness — Briginshaw
— Inquiry Officer standard

« Will advise the family IAW ASI 9-3

(*http://mwww findlaw.com.au/fagqs/3670/what-is-meant-by-beyond-reasonable-doubt-in-crimin.aspx)

The Balance of Probabilities, is the standard of proof that is required in civil law cases.

The family of SGT Siffleet will be advised IAW with the policy.
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Outline

Sergeant Siffleet and his two Ambonese companions, Privates
Pattiwal and Reharing, were captured while operating behind
enemy lines whilst on Operation Whiting.

They were held for a period at Malol and h
tortured then moved to Aitape. Where @
they were incarcerated in a building on
top a mountain in Aitape.

On the 24 October 1943, taken to north 3§
beach at Aitape beach and publicly :
executed by beheading and buried in
one grave below the hide tide mark.

A brief outline of the circumstances of SGT Siffleet, PTEs Pattiwal and Reharing.

They were captured while operating behind enemy lines on Operation Whiting.
Held for a period at Malol, questioned and tortured.
Moved to Aitape and held in a building on a hilltop.

Sometime on the 24 Oct 1943, they were taken to north beach at Aitape and public
executed by beheading, their execution was photographed, and below the hide tide
mark in one grave.

The timing of the execution varies from statement to statement.
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Outline

Aerial view of Aitape — please note hill location

The yellow circle show the hill at Aitape, the Japanese interrogation reports refer to it as
a mountain.
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Outline

Siffleet beheading is the only
known photograph beheading
execution of a European during
World War Two.

His death and the whereabouts *
of his remains at the time and to ¥y
date st has  massive |
immeasurable public interest.

AUSTRALIAN WAR MEMORIAL

Siffleet beheading is the only known photographed beheading of a European during
World War Two.

His death and the whereabouts of his remains at the time and to date still have
immeasurable public interest.

Initially, the photograph was reported as an American airman, then as Australian VC
winner before being correctly identified.

His family was not told, they found by seeing it displayed at the local pictures after the
war.
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Outline

All three were buried in one grave, on beach, Siffleet
executed first, other were then executed other at a time
and placed on top of Siffleet — confirmed by Japanese
statements.

An Unknown Australian Solider (UAS) body washes up
near Nigia River, 24 Jan 1945. 459 days / 1 year, 3 months
and 1 day post the executions.

The interrogation report of the senior guard in charge, WO Watanabe, confirms that only
one grave was dug, that Siffleet was executed first, then an Ambonese soldiers one after
another.

From the date of execution to the date of UAS body being discovered was 1 year, 3
months and 1 day, or 65 weeks and 4 days, or 459 days.

Page 53 of 77 7



The hill T T T

at Aitape "_%_f“

The marking made on the map by WO Watanabe
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Body washed up

WAR DIARY or INFEELIGENGE--SUMMARY. s B
jop fie beading not requied ) :
Unit.l_Aus§_tar U2aves USAE  Dore and Time.—From 9001 18:1e45 7, 2559 hrs 24 Jon 145
Placs Date. |  Howr | oy of et and Tuforsaton “\‘j“;"::[ i

= |
ATTAPE G, | 18 Jan '4% | A commnic received from Cant Kerr advi .'!1n¢ particulprs of
s Tmdos-  "Loft Aitape 8 Jan" for Tiver ¢

deation £rip a
an, River cal 3 10 Jan, K ftong; 11 Jan, exhuwed ree
bt Tong 12 yan; q« t -bodios-back to Attape; 13 Jan, Yoft Tong

do | 19 Jan 1456 Uit members at Camp engaged on ¢ eg; anquiriea were mnfm
... regarding G0 caske use in direct ‘uvaripls; neport 110,7/38
30 Jans | no word has been recelved |
|
do 21 Jan | Capt ¥err rotur
and "urmz-ta'l on nature
o 22/28 Jar

sibe ware removed; Cept her
1.ons a0 promised u;r‘

¢ oroase in-allotwent
1.‘*. to ]e acute stortege in the area, thi c‘

An Officer
| moulh of tie Nigia
| Auabralien- goldter
easfi of the muth
racovered Lhe.remalr
Onit

i
5 oi con T 1
EITane AUSE TTay Cor@tory as Unidentified AstT nt s soldier.

v

7 Australlan War Graves Unit diary entry for the body washed up on 24 Jan 1945

This show the entry by 7 Aust War Graves Unit, for 24 Jan 1945,

‘An Office from 17 Bde Junior Leader’ School, situated near the mouth of the Nigia River
report that the remains of an Unidentified Australian Soldier had been washed up above
sea level, approx 20 Yds east of the mouth of the Nigia River. Capt Kerr and Party
investigated and recovered the remains (Head and feet missing). Records held by the
unit indicate the remains could be that of a who was last seen in an
unconscious condition in the mouth of the Nigia River some weeks previously. But, due
to lack of any means of confirming identification, the remains were buried in Aitape Aust
War Cemetery as Unidentified Australian Soldier’

Page 55 of 77 9



mouih of tie nigia River report
Agiralian Soldier-had been -washed
.:.-mll of the mouth of the

Body washed up

An officer from 17 2d&. Tunioy Loaders' Sehodl, sitiared noar th
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Body washed up

The Grave Card registration — Front - for the body washed up on 24 Jan 1945

Front of Grave Registration card showing Aitape initial burial, Wewak burial then Lae
burial.
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Body washed up

The Grave Card registration — Rear - for the body washed up on 24 Jan 1945

Back of Grave Registration Card, showing notations.

‘Body too decomposed through action of water and sea lice's to note any deformities
etc...”
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* Probable Candidates

* |t is believed there are five probable
candidates:
1. SGT Siffleet — date of death 24 Oct 1943;
2. PTE Pattiwal — date of death 24 Oct 1943;

3. PTE Reharing — date of death 24 Oct 1943
(all above three - 1 year, 3 months, 1 day);

4. — date of death 27 Nov 1944
(12 weeks); and

2. — date of death 4 Dec 1944
(7 weeks, 3 days).

List of all 5 probable candidates who could be considered.
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Location of Probable Candidates

Malol Village

Google earth
C

Distance is
17 km

Nigia River

Location markers on the map

Note — Loats marker is also showing

As is PPA7 marker
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Location of Probable Candidates

Google earth
2

Second view of markers
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

e

» Operation Aussie Home their hypothesis Balance of
Probability that:

— (85.a.) there is evidence to indicate the remains
of SGT Siffleet were buried at depth in
sand/mud on the 24 October 1943 at Grid
Reference 060463, Map Aitape East, 1:63360
(1 inch/mile); - the only evidence that could be
found was that the three were executed on the north
Aitape beach and buried in the same grave, no depth
of the grave was given in any interrogation
statement.

OAH Hypothesis — each laid out

Japanese interrogation statements do not state the depth of the grave.

The senior guard, WO Watanabe, statement clearly states that during his interrogation
there was only one grave.
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

AITAPE EAST
2
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

| This was actually

_q,ﬂ_mq Base a barge hide,

52 ey .,_ not a base
lama\l  UAS

LY ' GR-05946!
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

e

* (85.b.) M Special Unit operatives wore Australian
Army uniform but did NOT carry any form of
identification into the field.

— This fact is not in contention.

» The UAS must have been wearing Australian Army
uniform items to be identified as such at the time of
recovery by the Australian Graves unit personnel.
— The identity of the UAS as an Australian is not in

contention. ﬂ« j 3

Uniform not in contention

UAS — as an Australian not in contention
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

e

» (85.c.) Sgn Ldr Dr Malcolm Dodd (Victorian Institute
of Forensic Medicine and Forensic Pathologist
serving with the RAAF Special Reserve) indicated:

“from my extensive experience in the Solomon Islands
with similar bodies, ( about 25 + trips now ) it is fair to
say that a deep burial of 4-6 ft. in sand tends to
protect from full skeletonisation quite well over months
to a year”

- The depth at which these bodies where actually
buried is not known and the time period is 15 months not
12 months.

Depth of grave is not known.

Period is actually 15 months not 12 months.
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

 (85.d.) No other Australian soldiers were reported
as being killed in or near that location and their
bodies not recovered (there was no fighting in that

location); - Incorrect — other Australians during that
period, in that location are reported as missing and not

recovered.
Js47F

Additionally, within a few days of the 2004 Boxing Day tsunami
the Thai’s were checking pubic hair colour to quickly screen
foreigners (Europeans). This anecdote demonstrates that even
after a few days in the tropics, it is impossible to determine
ancestry (race) using skin colour, soft tissues etc. Additionally,
taking into consideration there was no skull.

Incorrect.

Two other Australians soldiers reported missing and never recovered during that period
and fit the decomposition

47F
y° - 12 weeks
- 7 week, 3 days
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

e

» (85. e) an UAS’s remains were recovered
approximately 100 yards away at GR 059463 on
25 January 1945;

— Incorrect, the remains were recovered the day prior
and buried on the 25 Jan 1945, refer 7 Australian War
Graves Unit diary entry (slide 10).

Incorrect — refer to slide 10
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

« (85.1). it appears that the corpse remained buried for
about a year and was gradually uncovered over a
short period of time by a combination of
disturbances by military landing craft/tracked
vehicles, erosion from tropical rainfall, wave action

and diurnal tidal action;

— Operation Aussie Home provide no theory for erosion
from wet session 1943/44, the wave action and diurnal
tidal action up to 1945. Additional, Siffleet remains
were the first in the grave, therefore they would be the
last out by such tidal action. Once starting to
becoming uncovered they would have been
discovered by locals or animals.

There are actually two wet seasons that need be to taken into consideration 1943/44
and 1944/45 not just 1944/45.

Operation Aussie Home only consider 1944/45

Also, if bodies may have uncovered slowly, if this was the case, they may have well be
discovered by individual(s) before being washed out to sea then washed up — no theory
to has been put forward. Additionally, animals such as pigs may have found them before
they been washed out sea.
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Operation Aussie Home hypothesis

e

* (85.9). itis contended that the human remains were
uncovered and discovered a short time after full
exposure to the elements after being exposed
during the ‘wet season’ of 1944/45 and at that time
remnant portions of Australian Army uniform were
attached to those remains.

— Operation Aussie Home provide no theory to discount
the 1943/44 wet season. Once starting to becoming
uncovered they would have been discovered by
locals or animals.

Same as previous slide
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Other Factors

» Three bodies confirmed in grave will increase the
rate of decomposition.

« After 15 months in a grave, whilst the body may not
be skeletonised it would not be articulated as a
body.
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US Landing at Aitape

The Americans landing would have cause far more sand disturbance then Australian
relief in place.
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US Landing at Aitape

A map of the Americans landing.
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Australian Aitape Cemetery

Key points:

+ 118 Australians were buried within the temporary cemetery.

« Three Unidentified Australian Soldiers (UAS) are within this
number, all were in Plot A of the cemetery.

* The remains from Aitape temporary cemetery were exhumed and
moved to Wewak, they were then moved again to Lae at the end of
the war; once the location of the permanent Commonwealth War
Cemeteries had been decided.

The Aitape Aust War Cemetery contained 118 Australian servicemen at the time of its

closure.
In that number there were 3 UAS, all were in Plot A.

The UAS in question was in Row B, Grave 2.

The remains of these Australians were exhumed and moved to Wewak, where they

were again exhumed moved to Lae at the war; one the location of the permanent

Commonwealth War Cemeteries had been decided.
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Conclusion

» Based on the OAH submission and the evidence
available there are five probable candidates who
could be the person that has been laid to rest in the
Commonwealth War Cemetery at Lae, Plot PP,
Row A, Grave 7.

These candidates are:

— NX143314 Sergeant L.G. Siffleet;
— Private Pattiwal;

— Private Reharing;

_or“ -:

The conclusion drawn from the evidence reviewed is there are five probable candidates:
1. Siffleet
2. Pattiwal

3. Reharing
4 s47F

5.

The body washed up had no head or feet, was badly decomposed through action of
water and sea lice's to note any deformities.

Additionally, within a few days of the 2004 Boxing Day tsunami the Thai’s were checking
pubic hair colour to quickly screen foreigners (Europeans). This anecdote demonstrates
that even after a few days in the tropics, it is impossible to determine ancestry (race)
using skin colour, soft tissues etc. Additionally, taking into consideration there was no
skull.

It must be remember the member of GRU were not expert in identifying remains
especially one without a skull and who had been it the water for an extended period.
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Recommendations

The following recommendations are made:

a. That the headstone at Lae War Cemetery, Plot PP, Row
A, Grave 7 remains unchanged.

b. The ID Board may wish to consider requesting that
CWGC open the grave in question and obtain a DNA
based on “over-riding public necessity’. This would
however be an extraordinary request, likely to be
resisted by DVA and CWGC.

c. Ifrecommendation b. is accepted the DNA sample is
tested against the

Discuss if requied
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Questions
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